

CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 Linwood Library Support Services 180 Smith St, Linwood



QUANTITATIVE ASSESSMENT REPORT FINAL

- Rev C
- 13 January 2014



CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 Linwood Library Support Services 180 Smith St, Linwood

QUANTITATIVE ASSESSMENT REPORT FINAL

- Rev C
- 13 January 2014

Sinclair Knight Merz 142 Sherborne Street Saint Albans PO Box 21011, Edgeware Christchurch, New Zealand Tel: +64 3 940 4900 Fax: +64 3 940 4901 Web: www.skmconsulting.com

COPYRIGHT: The concepts and information contained in this document are the property of Sinclair Knight Merz Limited. Use or copying of this document in whole or in part without the written permission of Sinclair Knight Merz constitutes an infringement of copyright.

LIMITATION: This report has been prepared on behalf of and for the exclusive use of Sinclair Knight Merz Limited's Client, and is subject to and issued in connection with the provisions of the agreement between Sinclair Knight Merz and its Client. Sinclair Knight Merz accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever for or in respect of any use of or reliance upon this report by any third party.



Contents

1.	Executive Summary	1
	1.1. Background	1
	1.2. Key Damage Observed	2
	1.3. Critical Structural Weaknesses	2
	1.4. Indicative Building Strength	2
	1.5. Recommendations	3
2.	Introduction	4
3.	Compliance	5
	3.1. Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)	5
	3.2. Building Act	6
	3.3. Christchurch City Council Policy	7
	3.4. Building Code	8
4.	Earthquake Resistance Standards	9
5.	Building Details	11
	5.1. Building description	11
	5.2. Gravity Load Resisting system	11
	5.3. Seismic Load Resisting system	11
	5.4. Geotechnical Conditions	12
	5.5. Building Damage	12
6.	Seismic Evaluation	14
	6.1. The Detailed Engineering Evaluation (DEE) process	14
	6.2. Available Information	16
	6.3. Survey	16
_	6.4. Design Criteria and Assumptions	16
7.	Results and Discussion	19
	7.1. Critical Structural Weaknesses	19
	7.2. Analysis Results	19
•	7.3. Recommendations	19
8.	Conclusion	21
9.	Limitation Statement	22
10.	Appendix 1 – Photos	23
11.	Appendix 2 – IEP Reports	31
12.	Appendix 3 – CERA Standardised Report Form	38
13.	Appendix 4 – Geotechnical Desk Study	40
14.	Appendix 5 – Calculations Philosophy	63
	14.1. Project description	63
	14.2. Site location, street, city, country	63
	14.3. Type of project	63
	14.4. Environmental conditions – durability requirements	63
	14.5. Site constraints	63
	14.6. Movement Joints	63
	14.7. Construction materials	63
	14.8. Bracing strategy	64
	14.9. Ground conditions	64
	14.10. Loading assumptions	64
	14.11. FILE LESISTANCE	64
	14.12. Outs ustu 14.13. Doflaction limite	04 65
	14.13. Deficition minus 14.14. Other Assumptions	60 85
	14 15 Loadings	60 65
	ouungo	00



Document history and status

Revision	Date issued	Reviewed by	Approved by	Date approved	Revision type
А	13/07/2012	TW Robertson	NM Calvert	13/07/2012	Draft for Client Approval
В	27/09/2012	NM Calvert	NM Calvert	24/09/2012	Final Issue
С	13/01/2014	NM Calvert	NM Calvert	13/01/2014	Final Issue

Approval

	Signature	Date	Name	Title
Author	Mel Hen	13/01/2014	Nigel Chan	Structural Engineer
Approver	Manat	13/01/2014	Nicholas Calvert	Senior Structural Engineer

Distribution of copies

Revision	Copy no	Quantity Issued to	
А	1	1	Christchurch City Council
В	1	1	Christchurch City Council
С	1	1	Christchurch City Council

Printed:	13 January 2014
Last saved:	13 January 2014 02:54 PM
File name:	PRO 0822 B002 Linwood Library Support Services Smith Street Quantitative Final.docx
Author:	Nigel Chan
Project manager:	Nick Calvert
Name of organisation:	Christchurch City Council
Name of project:	Christchurch City Council Structures Panel
Name of document:	PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 Quantitative Assessment Report
Document version:	C
Project number:	ZB01276.003



1. Executive Summary

1.1. Background

A Quantitative Assessment was carried out on building PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 located at 180 Smith St, Linwood. Building 2 is a single storey building with mezzanine floor located at the northern end. The building is constructed from steel frames and precast concrete walls. An aerial photograph illustrating the buildings location is shown below in Figure 1. Detailed descriptions outlining the buildings age and construction type are given in Section 5 of this report.



Figure 1: Aerial Photograph of Building PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 Located at 180 Smith St



This quantitative report for the building structure is based on the Detailed Engineering Evaluation Procedure document (draft) issued by the Structural Advisory Group on 19 July 2011, visual inspections carried out on 6^{th} March 2012, survey drawings and calculations.

1.2. Key Damage Observed

Key damage observed includes:-

- Cracking to the concrete precast panels.
- Hairline cracking to internal wall linings.
- Damage to shelving units in the store room. Due to instability of these shelving units this part of the building has a yellow placard.

Further details describing the level of damage are given in section 5.5 of this report. A building consent is not likely to be required for repairing this damage.

1.3. Critical Structural Weaknesses

No critical structural weaknesses for the building were observed during our visual inspection.

1.4. Indicative Building Strength

As described in the Engineering Advisory Group's "Guidance on Detailed Engineering Evaluation of Earthquake Affected Non-residential Buildings" (from July 2011) we have assessed the percentage of new building standard seismic resistance using the quantitative method. Our assessment included consideration of geotechnical conditions, existing earthquake damage to the building and structural engineering calculations to assess both strength and ductility/resilience.

The assessments were based on the following:

- On-site investigation to assess the extent of existing earthquake damage including limited intrusive investigation.
- Qualitative assessment of critical structural weaknesses (CSWs) based on review of available structural drawings and inspection where drawings were not available.
- A geotechnical desktop investigation has been undertaken. We have based this report on our knowledge of the site and the absence of liquefaction ejecta on the site. This report can be found in Appendix 5.
- Assessment of the strength of the existing structures taking account of the current condition.

Any building that is found to have a seismic capacity less than 33% of the new building standard is required to be strengthened up to a capacity of at least 67%NBS.

Based on the information available, and using the Quantitative Assessment Procedure, the buildings original capacity has been assessed to be in the order of 39%NBS and post earthquake capacity in the order of 39%NBS.



The building has been assessed to have a seismic capacity in the order of 39% NBS and is therefore not potentially earthquake prone.

Please note that structural strengthening is required by law for buildings that are confirmed to have a seismic capacity of less than 33% NBS.

1.5. Recommendations

As this building is found to have a %NBS of above 33% there is no requirement to strengthen the building to above 67%. The client may wish to strengthen the building to this target; this will require a building consent.

It is recommended that:

- a) The current placard status of yellow remain until the shelving units in the store room are repaired and securely restrained to resist the required earthquake loads Once this has been done then the placard status of the building can be changed to Green 1.
- b) We consider that barriers around the building are not necessary.
- c) Consideration should be given to strengthening the building to at least 67% NBS.



2. Introduction

Sinclair Knight Merz was engaged by Christchurch City Council to carry out a Quantitative Assessment of the seismic performance of Linwood Library Support Services located at 180 Smith Street, Linwood.

The scope of this quantitative analysis includes the following:

- Analysis of the seismic load carrying capacity of the building compared with current seismic loading requirements or New Buildings Standard (NBS). It should be noted that this analysis considers the building in its damaged state where appropriate.
- Identify any critical structural weaknesses which may exist in the building and include these in the assessed %NBS of the structure.
- Preparation of a summary report outlining the areas of concern in the building as well as identifying strengthening concepts to 67%NBS for any areas which have insufficient capacity if the building is found to be an earthquake prone building.

The recommendations from the Engineering Advisory Group^1 were followed to assess the likely performance of the structures in a seismic event relative to the New Building Standard (NBS). 100% NBS is equivalent to the strength of a building that fully complies with current codes. This includes a recent increase of the Christchurch seismic hazard factor from 0.22 to 0.3^2 .

This assessment identified that the seismic capacity of the building was likely to be less than 67% of the New Building Standard (NBS). A quantitative assessment was recommended to confirm the initial assessment findings and to determine a more accurate seismic rating of the building.

At the time of this report, intrusive site investigations had been carried out as recommended by the previous qualitative report. Construction drawings were not made available, and this has been considered in our evaluation of the building. The building description in section 5 is based on our visual inspections and intrusive investigations.

² <u>http://www.dbh.govt.nz/seismicity-info</u>

¹ EAG 2011, Guidance on Detailed Engineering Evaluation of Earthquake Affected Non-residential Buildings in Canterbury - Draft, p 10



3. Compliance

This section contains a brief summary of the requirements of the various statutes and authorities that control activities in relation to buildings in Christchurch at present.

3.1. Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)

CERA was established on 28 March 2011 to take control of the recovery of Christchurch using powers established by the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act enacted on 18 April 2011. This act gives the Chief Executive Officer of CERA wide powers in relation to building safety, demolition and repair. Two relevant sections are:

Section 38 – Works

This section outlines a process in which the chief executive can give notice that a building is to be demolished and if the owner does not carry out the demolition, the chief executive can commission the demolition and recover the costs from the owner or by placing a charge on the owners' land.

Section 51 – Requiring Structural Survey

This section enables the chief executive to require a building owner, insurer or mortgagee carry out a full structural survey before the building is re-occupied.

We understand that CERA will require a detailed engineering evaluation to be carried out for all buildings (other than those exempt from the Earthquake Prone Building definition in the Building Act). It is anticipated that CERA will adopt the Detailed Engineering Evaluation Procedure document (draft) issued by the Structural Advisory Group on 19 July 2011. This document sets out a methodology for both qualitative and quantitative assessments.

The qualitative assessment is a desk-top and site inspection assessment. It is based on a thorough visual inspection of the building coupled with a review of available documentation such as drawings and specifications. The quantitative assessment involves analytical calculation of the buildings strength and may require non-destructive or destructive material testing, geotechnical testing and intrusive investigation.

It is anticipated that factors determining the extent of evaluation and strengthening level required will include:

- The importance level and occupancy of the building
- The placard status and amount of damage
- The age and structural type of the building
- Consideration of any critical structural weaknesses
- The extent of any earthquake damage



3.2. Building Act

Several sections of the Building Act are relevant when considering structural requirements:

3.2.1. Section 112 – Alterations

This section requires that an existing building complies with the relevant sections of the Building Code to at least the extent that it did prior to any alteration. This effectively means that a building cannot be weakened as a result of an alteration (including partial demolition).

3.2.2. Section 115 – Change of Use

This section requires that the territorial authority (in this case Christchurch City Council (CCC)) be satisfied that the building with a new use complies with the relevant sections of the Building Code 'as near as is reasonably practicable'. Regarding seismic capacity 'as near as reasonably practicable' has previously been interpreted by CCC as achieving a minimum of 67%NBS however where practical achieving 100%NBS is desirable. The New Zealand Society for Earthquake Engineering (NZSEE) recommend a minimum of 67%NBS.

3.2.3. Section 121 – Dangerous Buildings

The definition of dangerous building in the Act was extended by the Canterbury Earthquake (Building Act) Order 2010, and it now defines a building as dangerous if:

- in the ordinary course of events (excluding the occurrence of an earthquake), the building is likely to cause injury or death or damage to other property; or
- in the event of fire, injury or death to any persons in the building or on other property is likely because of fire hazard or the occupancy of the building; or
- there is a risk that the building could collapse or otherwise cause injury or death as a result of earthquake shaking that is less than a 'moderate earthquake' (refer to Section 122 below); or
- there is a risk that that other property could collapse or otherwise cause injury or death; or
- a territorial authority has not been able to undertake an inspection to determine whether the building is dangerous.

3.2.4. Section 122 – Earthquake Prone Buildings

This section defines a building as earthquake prone if its ultimate capacity would be exceeded in a 'moderate earthquake' and it would be likely to collapse causing injury or death, or damage to other property. A moderate earthquake is defined by the building regulations as one that would generate ground shaking 33% of the shaking used to design an equivalent new building.



3.2.5. Section 124 – Powers of Territorial Authorities

This section gives the territorial authority the power to require strengthening work within specified timeframes or to close and prevent occupancy to any building defined as dangerous or earthquake prone.

3.2.6. Section 131 – Earthquake Prone Building Policy

This section requires the territorial authority to adopt a specific policy for earthquake prone, dangerous and insanitary buildings.

3.3. Christchurch City Council Policy

Christchurch City Council adopted their Earthquake Prone, Dangerous and Insanitary Building Policy in 2006. This policy was amended immediately following the Darfield Earthquake of the 4th September 2010.

The 2010 amendment includes the following:

- A process for identifying, categorising and prioritising Earthquake Prone Buildings, commencing on 1 July 2012;
- A strengthening target level of 67% of a new building for buildings that are Earthquake Prone. Council recognises that it may not be practicable for some repairs to meet that target. The council will work closely with building owners to achieve sensible, safe outcomes;
- A timeframe of 15-30 years for Earthquake Prone Buildings to be strengthened; and,
- Repair works for buildings damaged by earthquakes will be required to comply with the above.

The council has stated their willingness to consider retrofit proposals on a case by case basis, considering the economic impact of such a retrofit.

We anticipate that any building with a capacity of less than 33%NBS (including consideration of critical structural weaknesses) will need to be strengthened to a target of 67%NBS of new building standard as recommended by the Policy.

If strengthening works are undertaken, a building consent will be required. A requirement of the consent will require upgrade of the building to comply 'as near as is reasonably practicable' with:

- The accessibility requirements of the Building Code.
- The fire requirements of the Building Code. This is likely to require a fire report to be submitted with the building consent application.



3.4. Building Code

The building code outlines performance standards for buildings and the Building Act requires that all new buildings comply with this code. Compliance Documents published by The Department of Building and Housing can be used to demonstrate compliance with the Building Code.

After the February Earthquake, on 19 May 2011, Compliance Document B1: Structure was amended to include increased seismic design requirements for Canterbury as follows:

- a) Hazard Factor increased from 0.22 to 0.3 (36% increase in the basic seismic design load)
- b) Serviceability Return Period Factor increased from 0.25 to 0.33 (80% increase in the serviceability design loads when combined with the Hazard Factor increase)

The increase in the above factors has resulted in a reduction in the level of compliance of an existing building relative to a new building despite the capacity of the existing building not changing.



4. Earthquake Resistance Standards

For this assessment, the building's earthquake resistance is compared with the current New Zealand Building Code requirements for a new building constructed on the site. This is expressed as a percentage of new building standard (%NBS). The new building standard load requirements have been determined in accordance with the current earthquake loading standard (NZS 1170.5:2004 Structural design actions - Earthquake actions - New Zealand).

The likely capacity of this building has been derived in accordance with the New Zealand Society for Earthquake Engineering (NZSEE) guidelines 'Assessment and Improvement of the Structural Performance of Buildings in Earthquakes' (AISPBE), 2006. These guidelines provide an Initial Evaluation Procedure that assesses a buildings capacity based on a comparison of loading codes from when the building was designed and currently. It is a quick high-level procedure that can be used when undertaking a Qualitative analysis of a building. The guidelines also provide guidance on calculating a modified Ultimate Limit State capacity of the building which is much more accurate and can be used when undertaking a Quantitative analysis.

The New Zealand Society for Earthquake Engineering has proposed a way for classifying earthquake risk for existing buildings in terms of %NBS and this is shown in Figure 2 below.

Description	Grade	Risk	%NBS	Existing Building Structural Performance		Improvement of St	ructural Performance
					►	Legal Requirement	NZSEE Recommendation
Low Risk Building	A or B	Low	Above 67	Acceptable (improvement may be desirable)		The Building Act sets no required level of structural improvement (unless change in use)	100%NBS desirable. Improvement should achieve at least 67%NBS
Moderate Risk Building	B or C	Moderate	34 to 66	Acceptable legally. Improvement recommended		(unless change in use) This is for each TA to decide. Improvement is not limited to 34%NBS.	Not recommended. Acceptable only in exceptional circumstances
High Risk Building	D or E	High	33 or lower	Unacceptable (Improvement	Ľ,	Unacceptable	Unacceptable

Figure 2: NZSEE Risk Classifications Extracted from table 2.2 of the NZSEE 2006 AISPBE Guidelines

Table 1 below compares the percentage NBS to the relative risk of the building failing in a seismic event with a 10% risk of exceedance in 50 years (i.e. 0.2% in the next year). It is noted that the current seismic risk in Christchurch results in a 6% risk of exceedance in the next year.



Table 1: %NBS compared to relative risk of failure

Percentage of New Building Standard (%NBS)	Relative Risk (Approximate)
>100	<1 time
80-100	1-2 times
67-80	2-5 times
33-67	5-10 times
20-33	10-25 times
<20	>25 times



5. Building Details

5.1. Building description

Building PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 is a single storey building with a mezzanine floor located in the northern end. The building is primarily used as a library and offices by the local government. The building is constructed from steel portal frames and concrete precast panel walls. The mezzanine floor is constructed from timber framing and is accessed by one timber stair located on the south side of the floor. Garages are present along the eastern side of the building. They are constructed from concrete masonry block and have a steel roof trusses that support timber purlins and a light weight profiled steel cladding. The roof trusses are fixed to the concrete panels of the main building. The building is believed to be supported on concrete strip footings and pad foundations and has a concrete slab on grade at ground level.

5.2. Gravity Load Resisting system

Our evaluation was based on our site investigation conducted on the 6 March 2012 and the intrusive investigations in May 2012. These investigations allowed us to verify the structural system of the building. Drawings of the mezzanine floor dated February 1990 by Christchurch City Council – City Architects Division where provided however these drawings show no structural details.

Building PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 is essentially a single storey building with a mezzanine floor. The overall gravity system comprises of structural steel portal frames that support the roof structure and the concrete precast panel walls. The roof structure consists of light weight steel purlins and a light weight profiled steel cladding. The mezzanine floor is constructed from timber framing and is supported on a combination of timber framed walls and steel framing. The foundations are believed to be constructed from concrete pad foundations under the gravity columns and strip footings under the concrete walls. The ground floor consists of a concrete slab on grade. The drawings for the mezzanine floor are dated 1990 and so it is assumed that the building was constructed sometime in the mid 1980's.

5.3. Seismic Load Resisting system

For the lateral analysis of this building the 'across direction' has been taken as North West-South East whereas the 'along direction' has been taken as North East-South West.

Lateral loads acting across the building will be resisted by the steel portal frames.

Lateral loads acting along the building from the roof will be taken by the roof braces which will link the forces back to the concrete walls resisting the force by shear.

For the mezzanine floor the loads acting in the along direction the steel frame supporting the mezzanine floor will resist the loads. For the loads acting in the across direction the concrete walls on the sides of the mezzanine floor will resist the loads



5.4. Geotechnical Conditions

A geotechnical desktop study was carried out for this site. The main conclusions from this report are:

- The site has been assessed as NZS1170.5 Class D (deep or soft soil) from adjacent borehole logs.
- It is expected that the allowable bearing capacity of a shallow pad footing on this site will be in the region of 200 kPa. We estimate a conservative ultimate bearing capacity to be in the order of 400 kPa. However, these may be revised by a site specific investigation.
- Liquefaction risk is low at this site.

Unless a change of use is intended for the site we do not believe that any further geotechnical investigations are required. Specific ground investigation should be undertaken if significant alterations or new structures are proposed. If any excavations are required on the site further investigation of the potential for contamination should be undertaken. The full geotechnical desktop study can be found in Appendix 4.

5.5. Building Damage

<u>General</u>

1) No visual evidence of settlement was noted at this site. Therefore a level survey is not required at this stage of assessment.

External Damage

- Western Wall Cracking has occurred to the concrete panels along the construction joint near the centre of the wall. Concrete appears ready to spall off in some locations (PHOTO'S 4, 5 & 6).
- 2) North Wall Cracking and spalling of the concrete panel wall has occurred along the edge of the panel on the west side of the timber infill (PHOTO'S 7 & 8).
- 3) East Wall (garage) Hairline crack present along the joint between the timber rafter and the concrete column in the NE corner (PHOTO'S 9 & 10).
- 4) East Wall (garage) Vertical hairline crack present in the masonry mortar joint on the northern side of the office door lintel (PHOTO 11).
- 5) South Wall Gap present between the concrete wall and timber infill. Difficult to confirm if this is earthquake damage (PHOTO 12 & 13).

Internal Damage

• Level 1 (L1)

6) Hairline cracking present along the timber framed wall and concrete panel wall joint in the NW and NE corners (PHOTO'S 14 & 15).



- 7) Hairline cracks present along the joint between the northern window bulkhead and wall (PHOTO 16).
- 8) Mitre joints on the northern window architrave have opened up (PHOTO 16).
- 9) Cracking along ceiling joint on the western side where the ceiling changes slope. (PHOTO 17).
- Hairline cracking present around the top of the partition wall at the entrance to the L1 office. This crack occurs along the wall and ceiling joint and continues the full length of the partition wall (PHOTO'S 18 & 19).
- Ground Floor (L0)
- 11) North office, east wall: Diagonal hairline crack approximately 0.4mm wide present on the concrete wall radiating out from the top north corner of the opening (PHOTO'S 20, 21 & 22).
- 12) North office, south wall: Diagonal hairline crack approximately 0.2-0.3mm wide present in concrete wall located on the eastern side of the personnel door (PHOTO 24).
- 13) Joints in the timber wall linings near the western entrance have opened up (PHOTO 25).
- 14) Wall in front of stairs: Hairline cracking present in the timber wall linings around the wall opening (PHOTO'S 26, 27, 28 & 29).
- 15) Concrete wall dividing the east office and the kitchen: Vertical hairline crack approximately 0.3mm wide above the opening in the concrete wall (PHOTO'S 30, 31 & 32).

Photos of the above damage can be found in Appendix 1 – Photos.



6. Seismic Evaluation

6.1. The Detailed Engineering Evaluation (DEE) process

The DEE is a procedure written by the Department of Building and Housing's Engineering Advisory Group and grades buildings according to their likely performance in a seismic event. The procedure is not yet recognised by the NZ Building Code but is widely used and recognised by the Christchurch City Council as the preferred method for preliminary seismic investigations of buildings³.

The procedure of the DEE is as follows:

- 1) Qualitative assessment procedure
 - a. Determine the building's status following any rapid assessment that have been done
 - b. Review any existing documentation that is available. This will give the engineer an understanding of how the building is expected to behave. If no documentation is available, site measurements may be required
 - c. Review the foundations and any geotechnical information available. This will include determining the zoning of the land and the likely soil behaviour, a site investigation may be required
 - d. Investigate possible Critical Structural Weaknesses (CSW) or collapse hazards
 - e. Assess the original and post earthquake strength of the building (this assessment is subsequently superseded by the quantitative assessment)
- 2) Quantitative procedure
 - a. Carry out a geotechnical investigation if required by the qualitative assessment
 - b. Analyse the building according to current building codes and standards. Analysis accounts for damage to the building.

The DEE assessment ranks buildings according to how well they are likely to perform relative to a new building designed to current earthquake standards, as shown in Table 2. The building rank is indicated by the percent of the required New Building Standard (%NBS) strength that the building is considered to have. Earthquake prone buildings are defined as having less than 33 %NBS strength which correlates to an increased risk of approximately 20 times that of 100% NBS⁴. Buildings that are identified to be earthquake prone are required by law to be strengthened within

³ <u>http://resources.ccc.govt.nz/files/EarthquakeProneDangerousAndInsanitaryBuildingsPolicy2010.pdf</u>

⁴ NZSEE 2006, Assessment and Improvement of the Structural Performance of Buildings in Earthquakes, p 2-2

SINCLAIR KNIGHT MERZ



30 years of the owner being notified that the building is potentially earthquake prone⁵. This timeframe is likely to be adjusted by CERA and the Table 2 below contains the likely new recommendations.

Description	Grade	Risk	%NBS	Structural performance		
Low risk building	A+	Low	> 100	Acceptable. Improvement may		
				be desirable.		
	А		100 to 80			
	В		80 to 67			
Moderate risk building	С	Moderate	67 to 33	Acceptable legally.		
				Improvement recommended.		
				_		
High risk building	D	High	33 to 20	Unacceptable. Improvement		
				required.		
	Е		< 20			

Table 2: DEE Risk classifications

The DEE method rates buildings based on the plans (if available) and other information known about the building and some more subjective parameters associated with how the building is detailed and so it is possible that %NBS derived from different engineers may differ.

This assessment describes only the likely seismic Ultimate Limit State (ULS) performance of the building. The ULS is the level of earthquake that can be resisted by the building without catastrophic failure. The DEE does also consider Serviceability Limit State (SLS) performance of the building and or the level of earthquake that would start to cause damage to the building but this result is secondary to the ULS performance.

The NZ Building Code describes that the relevant codes for NBS are primarily:

- AS/NZS 1170 parts 0, 1 and 5 Structural Design Actions
- NZS 3101:2006 Concrete Structures Standard
- NZS 3404:1997 Steel Structures Standard
- NZS 2606:1993 Timber Structures Standard
- NZS 4230:1990 Design of Reinforced Concrete Masonry Structures

⁵ <u>http://resources.ccc.govt.nz/files/EarthquakeProneDangerousAndInsanitaryBuildingsPolicy2010.pdf</u>



6.2. Available Information

Following our inspections in May 2012, SKM carried out a seismic review on the structure. This review was undertaken using the limited drawings which were available. This included.

- Drawings of the mezzanine floor dated February 1990 by Christchurch City Council City Architects Division. These drawings however provided no structural details.
- Structural information obtained during a number of site inspections by SKM which included site measurements, and intrusive investigations into the roof space and the mezzanine floor

6.3. Survey

There was no visible evidence of settlement and as such no survey has been carried out.

6.4. Design Criteria and Assumptions

The assumptions made in undertaking the assessment include:

- The building was built according to the drawings and according to good practice at the time. We have reviewed the building and from our visual inspection the structure appears to be built in accordance with the drawings.
- The soil on site has been assessed as class D as described in AS/NZS1170.5:2004, Clause 3.1.3, Soft Soil. This has been assessed from borehole logs in the area. The ultimate bearing capacity on site is 400kPa. Liquefaction risk is low at this site.
- Standard design assumptions for typical office and factory buildings as described in AS/NZS1170.0:2002:
 - 50 year design life, which is the default NZ Building Code design life.
 - Structure importance level 2. This level of importance is described as 'normal' with medium or considerable consequence for loss of human life, or considerable economic, social or environmental consequence of failure.
- The building has a period of 0.3 seconds in the along direction and 0.6 seconds in the across direction.
- Site hazard factor, Z = 0.3, NZBC, Clause B1 Structure, Amendment 11 effective from 1 August 2011
- The following ductility criteria used in the building:



Table 3: Assumed Building Ductility

Direction	Ductility State
Along	1.00
Across	1.25

In the along direction the concrete shear walls will remain elastic and in the across direction the steel portal frames has been assumed to be nominally ductile.

• The following material properties were used in the analyses:

Table 4: Material Properties

Material	Nominal Strength	Structural Performance
Structural Steel	$f_y = 300 MPa$	$S_{p} = 0.9$
Roof bracing	$f_y = 250 MPa$	$S_{p} = 1.0$
Concrete	$f_c' = 30MPa$	S _p = 1.0
Bolts	$f_{\rm uf} = 400 MPa$	S _p = 1.0

- Type of 460UB for the portal frame steel could not be confirmed on site, 460UB67 has been assumed as the section size
- Type of 200DHS for the purlins has been assumed to be DHS200/12, properties from the Dimond manufacturer have been used.
- Not all of the shear wall to steel column connections could be inspected. From the ones that
 were inspected it has been assumed all the connections on the south side consist of cleats
 welded to the columns with bolts connecting the concrete wall to the cleats. Bolts have been
 assumed to be M12 bolts epoxied with Ramset Chemset injection 101 plus.
- For the connections on the north side it has been assumed all the connections consist of cleats welded to the columns with the cleats welded to the concrete walls. 5mm welds have been assumed
- No panel joints were found on the south wall it has been assumed that the wall was cast in-situ.
- It is assumed the particle board and gib ceiling is adequately connected to the timber joists to provide diaphragm action in the mezzanine floor
- Details of how the concrete panels are connected to the foundation have not been provided. An assumption has been that the walls in the longitudinal direction do not have a connection at the



bottom so that when they act out of plane they will span between the steel columns, when acting in-plane they will resist loads by rocking.

• It has been assumed that the end walls and the concrete wall beneath the mezzanine floor will have a shear connection to resist loads in the out of plane direction.

The detailed engineering analysis is a post construction evaluation. Since it is not a full design and construction monitoring, it has the following limitations:

- It is not likely to pick up on any concealed construction errors (if they exist)
- Other possible issues that could affect the performance of the building such as corrosion and modifications to the structure will not be identified unless they are visible and have been specifically mentioned in this report.
- The detailed engineering evaluation deals only with the structural aspects of the structure. Other aspects such as building services are not covered.



7. Results and Discussion

7.1. Critical Structural Weaknesses

This building has no critical structural weaknesses

7.2. Analysis Results

The equivalent static force method was used to analyse the seismic capacity of the building. A summary of the results of the analysis are reported in the following table as %NBS. The results below are calculated for the building in its initial and damaged state. The building results have been broken down into their seismic resisting elements

(%NBS = the reliable strength / new building standards)

Building	Seismic Resisting Element	Action	Seismic Rating %NBS
	Roof Tension Bracing	Tension	39%
	Concrete Side Walls	Out of plane bending	41%
Linwood	Steel Portal Frame	Bending	42%
Library	Roof Tension Bracing Connections	Compression	44%
	Bolt connection at concrete side walls to steel columns	Tension pull out	51%
	Mezzanine portal frame	Bending	70%

Table 5: DEE Results

7.3. Recommendations

The quantitative assessment carried out on the Linwood Library indicates that the building has a seismic capacity above 34% of NBS and is therefore classed as being a 'Moderate Risk Building'. Strengthening of the building is not required as no elements were found to be less than 34% of NBS. The client may wish to strengthen the building to above a 67% target; this will require a building consent.



Strengthening the building above the 67% target will involve:

Strengthening the side walls

Depending on what option is taken will affect how the rest of the structure is also strengthened. Strengthening of the side walls can be done a number of ways.

- Replace the existing concrete panels with new concrete panels with larger depth and increased reinforcing. Bolt connections would also be replaced with a stronger connection system. This will add additional seismic mass to the structure.
- Sprayed concrete on the exterior of the existing concrete panels. This solution will also add additional seismic mass to the structure. Additional steel cleats would also have to be welded to the steel columns and bolted to the existing concrete panel.
- Retrofit steel members on the interior of the existing concrete panels. This will encroach on the interior floor space. Discussions with the client will determine if this is an acceptable solution.
- Carbon fibre strengthening. Additional steel cleats would also have to be welded to the steel columns and bolted to the existing concrete panel.

It is difficult to determine which would be the most suitable solution. Further design work, cost analysis and discussions with the client will determine which solution would be most appropriate for the strengthening of the side walls.

Strengthening Steel Portal frame

This can be done by installing additional fly braces between the bottom flange of the UB section and the DHS purlins at the hip joint locations. This will be done for all the hip joint locations where fly braces are not already present.

Strengthening Roof Bracing

Strengthening of the roof can be done by adding extra bays of cross steel braces along the roof. The number of extra bays required will depend on how much additional seismic mass is added to the structure from the side wall solution.

We recommend that the following actions are taken:

- a) The current placard status, yellow remains until the shelving units in the store room are repaired and securely restrained to resist the required earthquake loads. Once this has been done then the placard status of the building can be changed to green 1.
- b) We consider that barriers around the building are not necessary.
- c) Consideration should be given to strengthening the building to at least 67% NBS



8. Conclusion

SKM carried out a quantitative assessment on PRO 0822 B002 EQ2 located at 180 Smith St. This assessment concluded that the building is classified as not potentially earthquake prone.

Table 6: Quantitative assessment summary

Description	Grade	Risk	%NBS	Structural performance		
Linwood Library	С	Moderate	39	Acceptable legally. Imprecommended.		Improvement

The quantitative assessment carried out on the Linwood Library indicates that the building has a seismic capacity above 34% of NBS and is therefore classed as being in the category of 'Moderate Risk Building'. Strengthening of the building is not required as no elements were found to be less than 34% of NBS. The client may wish to strengthen the building to above a 67% target; this will require a building consent.

It is recommended that:

- a) The current placard status of yellow remains until the shelving units in the store room are repaired and securely restrained to resist the required earthquake load. Once this has been done then the placard status of the building can be changed to green 1.
- b) We consider that barriers around the building are not necessary.
- c) Consideration should be given to strengthening the building to at least 67% NBS



9. Limitation Statement

This report has been prepared on behalf of, and for the exclusive use of, SKM's client, and is subject to, and issued in accordance with, the provisions of the contract between SKM and the Client. It is not possible to make a proper assessment of this report without a clear understanding of the terms of engagement under which it has been prepared, including the scope of the instructions and directions given to, and the assumptions made by, SKM. The report may not address issues which would need to be considered for another party if that party's particular circumstances, requirements and experience were known and, further, may make assumptions about matters of which a third party is not aware. No responsibility or liability to any third party is accepted for any loss or damage whatsoever arising out of the use of or reliance on this report by any third party.

Without limiting any of the above, in the event of any liability, SKM's liability, whether under the law of contract, tort, statute, equity or otherwise, is limited in as set out in the terms of the engagement with the Client.

It is not within SKM's scope or responsibility to identify the presence of asbestos, nor the responsibility of SKM to identify possible sources of asbestos. Therefore for any property predating 1989, the presence of asbestos materials should be considered when costing remedial measures or possible demolition.

Should there be any further significant earthquake event, of a magnitude 5 or greater, it will be necessary to conduct a follow-up investigation, as the observations, conclusions and recommendations of this report may no longer apply Earthquake of a lower magnitude may also cause damage, and SKM should be advised immediately if further damage is visible or suspected.



10. Appendix 1 – Photos









PHOTO 9: Hairline Cracking along Timber Rafter & Concrete Column Joint – East Wall	PHOTO 10: Close up of Photo 9
PHOTO 11: Hairline Cracking to Masonry Lintel above Office Entrance – East Wall	PHOTO 12: Gap between Concrete Panel and Timber Infill – South Wall















PHOTO 27: L0 – Close up of Photo 26	PHOTO 28: L0 – Wall in front of Stair - Hairline Cracking in Wall Lining around Door Opening
PHOTO 29: L0 – Close up of Photo 28	PHOTO 30: L0 – Vertical Hairline Crack in Concrete Wall near Kitchen







11. Appendix 2 – IEP Reports





	P-2 Initial Eva	-	2KW	Page				
В	uilding Name:	Linwood Service Cen	tre & Library S	upport - Buil	ding 2		Ref.	ZB01276.02
Lo	ocation:	180 Smith Street, Wo	olston, Christo	hurch	-		Ву	KW
D	irection Considered:	Long	itudinal &	Transvers	se		Date	21/03/2012
2.2 1	Near Fault Scaling	Factor, Factor A						
a) N	ear Fault Factor N(T.D)				1			
u, iti	rom NZS1170.5:2004, CI	3.1.6)						
b) N	ear Fault Scaling Factor	r	= 1/N((T,D)		Factor A	1.00	
2.3 H	Hazard Scaling Fac	tor, Factor B	Sele	ect Location	Christchurch		•	
a) H	azard Factor. Z. for site		0310		Shinstenuren		1	
۵, ۱۱ (fr	rom NZS1170 5:2004 Ta	ble 3.3)			7 =	0.3		
ы) и	azard Scaling Eactor	5.5 5.67			Z 1992 =	0.8	Auckland 0.6	Palm Nth 1.2
ы) п	azaru Scanny Factor	Fee ere 1000 - 1/7					Objects to a construct of a	Duriedin 0.8
		For 1992 = 1/Z	7 1002/7				Unristchurch 0.8	namilion 0.67
t	(Mhoro 7 4000 -	FUI 1992 ONWARDS = 2	. ISS∠IZ	vina Figure 3 5/4)))			
	(vvnere ∠ 1992 i	5 und 112.04203: 1992 20ne Fac	or noni accompan	yiiig rigure 3.5(b	ווי	Factor P	2 22	
							3.33	
a) B (fr b) R	uilding Importance Leve rom NZS1170.0:2004, Ta eturn Period Scaling Fa	el ble 3.1 and 3.2) Inctor from accompanyi	ng Table 3.1		2	Factor C	1.00	
2.5 [Ductility Scaling Fa	ictor, D	0			L		
a) A s (s	ssessed Ductility of Exi hall be less than maximu	sting Structure, μ m given in accompanyir	ıg Table 3.2)		Longitudinal Transverse	1 2	μ Maximum = μ Maximum =	6 6
b) D	uctility Scaling Factor			k.				
D) D	For pre 1976	3	=	··μ				
יט (מ	For pre 1976 For 1976 on	3 wards	=	1		1		
ים (ס	For pre 1976 For 1976 on For 1976 on (where k _µ is N	5 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa	= = ctor, from	1	Longitudinal	Factor D	1.00	
ים (ס	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 on (where k _µ is N accompanying	5 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa ⊨Table 3.3)	= = ctor, from	1 1	Longitudinal Transverse	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
6) Di	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 on (where k _µ is N accompanying	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa I Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact	= ctor, from or, Factor I	1 E	Longitudinal Transverse	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
2.6 S	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 om (where k _μ is Ν. accompanying Structural Performa	3 wards 231170.5:2005 Ductility Fa Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting System	= ctor, from or, Factor I n	1 E	Longitudinal Transverse	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
2.6 S	General Scaling Factor For pre 1976 For 1976 om (where k _μ is Ν. accompanying Structural Performa	3 wards 2S1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa 1 Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Systel Longitudinal Transverse	= ctor, from or, Factor I n	-γμ 1 Ε	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
 b) Di 2.6 \$ Si a) Si 	For pre 1976 For 1976 For 1976 (where k _µ is N accompanying Structural Performa elect Material of Lateral	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa I Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse actor, S _p	= = ctor, from or, Factor I n	1 Ε	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
 b) Di 2.6 \$ Si a) \$1 	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 with a second (where k _μ is N accompanying Structural Performa elect Material of Lateral tructural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa (Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse actor, S _p ipanying Figure 3.4	= = ctor, from or, Factor I n	1 Ε	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel	Factor D Factor D	1.00	
2.6 S Sa a) St	Conny Scaling Pactor For pre 1976 For 1976 om (where لاب is N accompanying Structural Performa elect Material of Lateral tructural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa (Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse actor, S _p (panying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal	= = or, Factor I n	τμ 1 Ε Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90	Factor D Factor D	1.00	
2.6 S Si a) Si	Genury Scaling ractor For pre 1976 For 1976 om (where k _μ is Ν. accompanying Structural Performa elect Material of Lateral tructural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa (Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse actor, S _p panying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse	= = or, Factor I m	тр 1 Е Sp Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00	
 a) Si 	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 with the star (where st, is N accompanying Structural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5.2005 Ductility Fa Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syste Longitudinal Transverse factor, Sp panying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse icaling Factor	= etor, from or, Factor I m	T E Sp Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D ▼	1.00	
 a) S1 b) S1 	Control Scaling Pactor For pre 1976 For 1976 Tor 1976 (where لي is N accompanying Structural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa g Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse factor, S _p spanying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse factor Longitudinal	= = or, Factor I m	т. Т Е Sp Sp Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00	
2.6 \$ Si a) Si b) Si	For pre 1976 For 1976 For 1976 (where k _µ is N accompanying Structural Performance F from accom	3 wards ZS1170.5:2005 Ductility Fa g Table 3.3) ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse factor, Sp upanying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse caling Factor Longitudinal Transverse	= ctor, from or, Factor I m	.чµ 1 Е Sp Sp Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
2.6 \$ Si a) Si b) Si	For pre 1976 For pre 1976 For 1976 om (where k _µ is N accompanying Structural Performa elect Material of Lateral tructural Performance F from accom	aransverse aransverse aransverse aransverse aransverse balansvers	= = or, Factor I m	1 Ε Sp Sp 1/S _p 1/S _p	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00	
 2.6 \$ 3.6 \$ 3.6 \$ 4.7 \$ 5.7 \$ 6.7 \$ 7.7 \$ 7.7 \$ 7.7 \$ 7.7 \$ 	Control Scaling Pactor For pre 1976 For 1976 with the second (where s., is N. accompanying Structural Performance F from accom tructural Performance S from accom	ance Scaling Fact Load Resisting System Longitudinal Transverse Transverse Transverse Transverse Transverse Scaling Factor Longitudinal Transverse Scaling Factor Longitudinal Transverse Building, (%NBS)	= etor, from or, Factor m	.чµ 1 Е Sp Sp 1/S _p 1/S _p	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00 1.11 1.11 1.43	61.4
 a) Si b) Si c) Si c) Si 	For pre 1976 For 1976 For 1976 (where k _u is N accompanying Structural Performance F from accom tructural Performance S from accom	arce Scaling Fact Load Resisting System Load Resisting System Longitudinal Transverse Transverse Transverse Transverse Transverse Scaling Factor Longitudinal Transverse Congitudinal Transverse Congitudinal Transverse Congitudinal Transverse Congitudinal Transverse Congitudinal Transverse Congitudinal	= = ctor, from or, Factor ∣ m	.чµ 1 Е 1/Sp 1/Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00 1.11 1.11 1.43 Longitudinal	61.1 (%N
 a) Si b) Si 2.7 E (€ 	For pre 1976 For 1976 For 1976 (where k _v is N accompanying Structural Performance F from accom tructural Performance S from accom	arce Scaling Fact Load Resisting Syster Longitudinal Transverse actor, Sp upanying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse actor, Sp upanying Figure 3.4 Longitudinal Transverse actaling Factor Longitudinal Transverse Building, (%NBS) (A x B x C x D x E	= = ctor, from or, Factor m	.т.р 1 Е Sp Sp 1/Sp 1/Sp	Longitudinal Transverse Steel Steel 0.90 0.70	Factor D Factor D	1.00 1.00 1.11 1.11 1.43 Longitudinal Transverse	61.1 (%N 83.3 (%N



SK

a) Considered: 180 Smith Street, Woolston, Christchurch rection Considered: a) Longitudinal (Choose worse case if clear at start. Complete IEP-2 and IEP-3 tep 3 - Assessment of Performance Achieve (Refer Appendix B - Section B3.2) Critical Structural Weakness 3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	for each if in doubt) vement Ratio (PAR Effect on Structural (Choose a value - Do Severe S	B; D I Performance o not interpolate Significant	ate	K) 21/03	N /2012 Building
rection Considered: a) Longitudinal (Choose worse case if clear at start. Complete IEP-2 and IEP-3) tep 3 - Assessment of Performance Achieve (Refer Appendix B - Section B3.2) Critical Structural Weakness 3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	for each if in doubt) vement Ratio (PAR Effect on Structural (Choose a value - Do Severe S	D I Performance o not interpolate Significant	ate	21/03	Building
(Choose worse case if clear at start. Complete IEP-2 and IEP-3 tep 3 - Assessment of Performance Achiev (Refer Appendix B - Section B3.2) Critical Structural Weakness 3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment S.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	tor each if in doubt) vement Ratio (PAR Effect on Structural (Choose a value - Do Severe S	I Performance o not interpolate Significant	3)		Building
tep 3 - Assessment of Performance Achiev (Refer Appendix B - Section B3.2) Critical Structural Weakness 3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	Verment Ratio (PAR Effect on Structural (Choose a value - Do Severe S	I Performance o not interpolate Significant	9)		Building
Critical Structural Weakness 3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	Effect on Structural (Choose a value - Do Severe \$	I Performance o not interpolate Significant	\$)		Building
3.1 Plan Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	Severe S	Significant	i		Score
Effect on Structural Performance Comment 3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment	0	0	Insignificant		
3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment		-	۲	Factor A	1
3.2 Vertical Irregularity Effect on Structural Performance Comment					
Effect on Structural Performance Comment	Severe S	Significant	Insignificant	- · -F	
				Factor B	1
		Olauriff and t	In stand (
3.3 Short Columns Effect on Structural Performance	Severe S	Significant	Insignificant	Factor C	1
Comment					
3.4 Pounding Potential					
(Estimate D1 and D2 and set D = the lowe	er of the two, or =1.0 if no	potential for po	ounding)		
a) Easter D1: Rounding Effect					
Select appropriate value from Table					
Values given assume the building has a frame structure. of pounding may be reduced by taking the co-efficient to	For stiff buildings (eg wi the right of the value app	ith shear walls), plicable to frame	, the effect e buildings.		
			Factor D1	1	
Table for Selection of Factor D1	-		Severe	Significant	Insignificant
Alianment	of Floors within 20% of Sep	Storey Height	0 0.7	0.8	Sep>.01H
Alignment of F	Floors not within 20% of S	Storey Height	0 0.4	0 0.7	0.8
b) Factor D2: - Height Difference Effect					
Select appropriate value from Table			л , Г		
Table for Selection of Factor D2			Factor D2 Severe	1 Significant	Insignificant
	Sep	paration	0 <sep<.005h< td=""><td>005<sep<.01h< td=""><td>Sep>.01H</td></sep<.01h<></td></sep<.005h<>	005 <sep<.01h< td=""><td>Sep>.01H</td></sep<.01h<>	Sep>.01H
	Height Difference	e > 4 Storeys	0.4	$\bigcirc 0.7$	01
	Height Difference	e < 2 Storeys	0 1	0 1	● 1
				Easter D	4
		(5	Set D = lesser of [Pactor D D1 and D2 or	1
		se	et D = 1.0 if no pr	ospect of pound	ing)
3.5 Site Characteristics - (Stability, landslid	le threat, liquefaction	n etc)			
Effect on Structural Performance	Severe S	Significant	Insignificant	-	
	0.5	0.7	0 1	Factor E	1
	L				
3.6 Other Factors	For < 3 storeys - Ma:	ximum value 2.	5,		
	otherwise - Maximun	n value 1.5. No	minimum.	Factor F	1
Record rationale for choice of Factor F:				-	



P-3	Initial Evaluation Procedure	e – Step 3 EP - 2 for Step 2. Table IEP - 4 for St	tens 4, 5 and 6)	SKM
ilding Name:	Building Name:		Ref.	ZB01276.02
cation:	Location:		By	21/02/2012
(Choose worse	case if clear at start. Complete IEP-2 and IEP-3	ອ for each if in doubt)	Date	21/03/2012
ep 3 - Assess (Refer App	ment of Performance Achieven endix B - Section B3.2)	nent Ratio (PAR)		
Critical Str	ructural Weakness	Effect on Structural I (Choose a value - Do	Performance not interpolate)	Buildin Score
3.1 Plan Irreg	ularity	Severe Si	gnificant Insignificant]
Eff	fect on Structural Performance Comment		0	Factor A 1
3.2 Vertical Ir	regularity	Severe Si	gnificant Insignificant	7
Eff	fect on Structural Performance	0	0 0	Factor B 1
	Comment]
3.3 Short Col	umns	Severe Si	gnificant Insignificant]
Efi	fect on Structural Performance	0	0 0	Factor C 1
Note: Values given a of pounding m	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D	1 1
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever	1 1 e Significant Insignific
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. hay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever iration O <sep<.005< td=""><td>1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005<sep<.01h sep="">.01</sep<.01h></td></sep<.005<>	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h sep="">.01</sep<.01h>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to rction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4</sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h sep="">.01 ○ 0.8 ● 1 ○ 0.7 ○ 0.8</sep<.01h>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2:	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4</sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h sep="">.01 ○ 0.8 ● 1 ○ 0.7 ○ 0.8</sep<.01h>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D</sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> ○ 0.8 ○ 0.8 ○ 0.7 ○ 0.8</sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. Nay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ection of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.7 Factor D Severe</sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h sep="">.01 ○ 0.8 ● 1 ○ 0.7 ○ 0.8 2 1 Significant Insignific</sep<.01h>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. Nay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ection of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference :	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Factor D Severe aration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.4</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 ● I O 0.7 O Significant Insignific .005<sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 .005<sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.7 O</sep<.01h<></sep<.01h<></sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. Nay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ection of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Str ent of Floors not within 20% of Str Sepa Height Difference 2 Height Difference 2 tr	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Factor D Severe aration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.4 0.7</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 1 O 0.7 0.8 2 1 Significant I .005 Sep>.01 O 0.7 0.8</sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. aay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ection of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table ection of Factor D2	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 4	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe ration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 1</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignificant H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 ● 1 O 0.8 ● 1 O 0.7 O 0.8 2 1 </sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table ction of Factor D2	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Str nt of Floors not within 20% of Str ent of Floors not within 20% of Str Sepa Height Difference 2 tr Height Difference 4	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe aration 0<sep<.005h 0.4 Storeys 0.4 0.4 Storeys 0.7 2 Storeys 0.1</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 1 O 0.8 1 O 0.7 0.8 2 1 Significant Insignifici 0.05<sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.7 1 O 0.9 1 O 1 ● 1 Factor D</sep<.01h<></sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table ction of Factor D2	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto nt of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 2 Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 4	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever rration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe rration 0<sep<.005h 0.4 Storeys 0.4 0.4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 1 (Set D = lessed</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 1 O 0.8 1 O 0.7 0.8 2 1 Significant Insignificit .005<sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.7 1 O 0.9 1 O 0.9 1 O 1 ● 1 Factor D 1 and D2 or.</sep<.01h<></sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to inction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table Inction of Factor D2	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable t Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto ent of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 2 Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 4	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe aration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 1 (Set D = lesse set D = 1.0 if the second s</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 re Significant Insignificant H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 ● 1 O 0.7 O 0.8 2 1 </sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele	assume the building has a frame structure. ay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to ction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table ction of Factor D2 haracteristics - (Stability, landslid	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto nt of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 3 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 height Difference 5	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe ration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.4 0.4 Severe 0.4 0.5ep<.005H 0.4 0.7 (Set D = lesses set D = 1.0 if the second seco</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific. H .005 Sep<.01H
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to Internet of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table Internet from Table Internet of Factor D2 Internet of Factor D2 Inter	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto nt of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 3 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 5	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe ration 0<sep<.005h 0.4 Severe 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.4 Severe 0.4 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.4 Severe 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.4 Severe 0.7 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific. H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 O 0.8 1 O 0.7 0.8 2 1 .005 Significant Insignific. 1 0.7 1 0.05 0.7 1 0.05 0.7 1 0.07 1 1 0.9 1 1 0.1 0.1 1 Factor D 1 r of D1 and D2 or no prospect of pounding)</sep<.01h<>
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch Ef	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to inction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table inction of Factor D2 inction of Factor D2 haracteristics - (Stability, landslid fect on Structural Performance	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Str ent of Floors not within 20% of Str Beight Difference 2 to Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 5 Severe St 0.5	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever aration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Factor D Severe aration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 0.1 (Set D = lesses set D = 1.0 if in gnificant Insignificant 0.7 •</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 re Significant Insignificant H .005 Sep<.01H
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch Eff 3.6 Other F	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to inction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table rection of Factor D2 haracteristics - (Stability, landslid fect on Structural Performance Factors	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable to Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sta nt of Floors not within 20% of Sta Height Difference 3 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 5 Neight Difference 5 0.5 Severe Si 0.5 For < 3 storeys - Maxi	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe ration 0<sep<.005h > 4 Storeys 0.4 o 4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 0.1 (Set D = lesse set D = 1.0 if n gnificant Insignificant 0.7 •</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignification H .005 Sep<.01H
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch Eff 3.6 Other F	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to inction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table inction of Factor D2 haracteristics - (Stability, landslid fect on Structural Performance Factors	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto nt of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 3 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 5 O 0.5 For < 3 storeys - Maxi otherwise - Maximum	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Factor D Severe ration 0<sep<.005h 0.4 0.4 Severe 0.4 0.4 0.4 Severe 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7</sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific. H .005 Sep<.01H
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: - Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch Eff 3.6 Other F Record rat	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to iction of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table iction of Factor D2 haracteristics - (Stability, landslid fect on Structural Performance Factors tionale for choice of Factor F:	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Str and of Floors not within 20% of Str Height Difference 2 Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 2 to Height Difference 3 Government of Severe Si Overnment of Severe Severe Si Overnment of Severe S	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever rration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe 0<sep<.005h 0.4 Severe 0<sep<.005h 0.4 Severe 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7</sep<.005h </sep<.005h </sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignificant H .005 Sep<.01H
Note: Values given a of pounding m Table for Sele b) Factor D2: · Select approp Table for Sele 3.5 Site Ch Eff 3.6 Other F	assume the building has a frame structure. Iay be reduced by taking the co-efficient to Intervention of Factor D1 Alig Alignme - Height Difference Effect riate value from Table - Height Difference Effect riate value for Table - Height Difference Effect - Height Differ	For stiff buildings (eg with shear the right of the value applicable f Sepa nment of Floors within 20% of Sto nt of Floors not within 20% of Sto Sepa Height Difference 3 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 4 Height Difference 5 O.5 For < 3 storeys - Maxi otherwise - Maximum	r walls), the effect to frame buildings. Factor D Sever ration 0 <sep<.005 orey Height 0.7 orey Height 0.4 Factor D Severe a Storeys 0.4 o 4 Storeys 0.4 o 4 Storeys 0.7 < 2 Storeys 1 (Set D = lesse set D = 1.0 if if gnificant Insignificant 0.7 • mum value 2.5, value 1.5. No minimum.</sep<.005 	1 1 e Significant Insignific H .005 <sep<.01h< td=""> Sep>.01 0 0.8 1 0 0.7 0.8 2 1 Insignific I 0.7 0.8 2 1 Significant Insignific 1 0.7 1 Sep>.01 0.05 0.7 1 Insignific 1 0.1 1 1 0 1 Image: 1 1 ar of D1 and D2 or 1 Image: 1 1 Factor D 1 1 1 Factor F 1</sep<.01h<>





12. Appendix 3 – CERA Standardised Report Form



ocation Building Nam	Linwood Library Support Services		Reviewer	Trevor Robertson
Building Addres	unit 	No: Street 180 Smith Street	CPEng No: Company:	28892 SKM
Legal Description	Degrees	Min Sec	Company phone number:	09 940 4900
GPS sout GPS eas	c c		Date of submission: Inspection Date:	6/03/2012 & 05/12
Building Unique Identifier (CCC	: PRO 0822 B002		Revision: Is there a full report with this summary?	B yes
ite Site slop	flat		Max retaining height (m):	
Soil typ Site Class (to NZS1170.5	: mixed : D		Soil Profile (if available):	
Proximity to waterway (m, if <100m Proximity to clifftop (m, if < 100m	: [If Ground improvement on site, describe:	
Proximity to can base (m,ir < 100m	·L		Approx site elevation (m).	
uilding No. of storeys above groun	t:2	single storey = 1	Ground floor elevation (Absolute) (m):	0.00
Ground floor split Storeys below groun	2 no 10		Ground floor elevation above ground (m):	0.00
				the portal legs, however it is likely that strip footings will be present under the concrete
Foundation typ Building height (m	t other (describe) 7.00	height from ground to	if Foundation type is other, describe: level of uppermost seismic mass (for IEP only) (m):	walls. 7.00
Floor footprint area (approx Age of Building (years	30		Date of design:	1976-1992
Strongthoning process	200		If so, when (year)?	
Use (around floor	: commercial		And what load level (%g)? Brief strenathening description	
Use (upper floors Use notes (if required	commercial			
Importance level (to NZS1170.5	: IL2			
Gravity System	frame system			Steel 460 UB portal frames supporting 200
Roc	: steel framed		rafter type, purlin type and cladding	DHS purlins and a light weight profiled steel cladding
Floor Beam	timber steel non-composite		joist depth and spacing (mm) beam and connector type	290x45 at 500crs 310 UB 40
Column Walls	non-load bearing		typical dimensions (mm x mm) C	460 DP x 190 W
ateral load resisting structure Lateral system alone	: single level tilt panel	Note: Define along and a	cross in note total length of wall at ground (m):	5.7
Ductility assumed, Period alon	1.00 t 0.30	detailed report! 0.00	wall thickness (m): estimate or calculation?	0.130m and 0.170m estimated
Total deflection (ULS) (mm maximum interstorey deflection (ULS) (mm	25 2		estimate or calculation? estimate or calculation?	estimated estimated
Lateral system acros	welded and bolted steel moment frame		note typical bay length (m)	27
Period acros Total deflection (ULS) (mm		0.00	estimate or calculation? estimate or calculation?	estimated
maximum interstorey deflection (ULS) (mm	r0		estimate or calculation?	estimated
Separations: north (mm		leave blank if not relevant		
east (mi south (mi west (mi	- 			
Non-structural elements				
Stair	. timber		describe supports	130mm and 170mm - welded and bolted to
Wali Caddini Roof Claddini Glazini	r Metal		thickness and fixing type describe	Light weight profiled steel cladding
Ceilin Ceilin Services(list	light tiles Air conditioning, lighting, sprinklers.			
Available documentation	Inartial		original decignor name/date	For mezzanine floor only. No structural
Structur Mechanic	l none		original designer name/date original designer name/date	
Electric	I none		original designer name/date	Desktop study by SKM dated 26 March
Geotech repo	t[partial		original designer name/date	2012
Damage Site: Site performance			Describe damage:	
refer DEE Table 4-2) Settlemen	none observed		notes (if applicable):	
Differential settlemen Liquefaction	none observed		notes (if applicable): notes (if applicable):	
Lateral Sprea Differential lateral sprea Ground crack	t none apparent		notes (it applicable): notes (if applicable): potes (if applicable):	
Damage to area	: slight		notes (if applicable):	
Building: Current Placard Statu	: yellow			
Jona Damago rati			Describe how damage ratio arrived at	damage observed does not deminish the capacity of the structure
Describe (summary	c	(% N	BS (before) = % NBS (after))	
Across Damage rational Describe (summary	0%	$Damage _Ratio = \frac{(70 M)}{10}$	% NBS (before)	
iaphragms Damage	ino		Describe:	
SWs: Damage	:[no		Describe:	
ounding: Damage	: <u>no</u>		Describe:	
on-structural: Damage	: yes		Describe:	
ecommendations	minor etructural			
Level of repair/strengthening require Building Consent required:	no		Describe: Describe:	limited occupancy to store rearry where
Interim occupancy recommendation	: partial occupancy		Describe:	shelving is damaged
long Assessed %NBS before:	39%	%NBS from IEP	If IEP not used, please detail	Quantitative Assessment carried out (refer to SKM report)
Assessed %NBS after:	39%		assessment methodology:	
Assessed %NBS before: Assessed %NBS after:	41%	%NBS from IEP		
fficial Use only:				
fficial Use only: Accepted E Dat	y			



13. Appendix 4 – Geotechnical Desk Study

Sinclair Knight Merz 142 Sherborne Street Saint Albans PO Box 21011, Edgeware Christchurch, New Zealand

Tel: +64 3 940 4900 Fax: +64 3 940 4901 Web: www.globalskm.com



Christchurch City Council - Structural Engineering Service

Geotechnical Desk Study

SKM project number	ZB01276
SKM project site number	002 to 005 inclusive
Address	Linwood Resource Centre and Library, 180 Smith Street and 332 Linwood Ave
Report date	26 March 2012
Author	Ross Roberts / Ananth Balachandra
Reviewer	Leah Bateman
Approved for issue	Yes

1. Introduction

This letter outlines the geotechnical information that Sinclair Knight Merz (SKM) has been able to source from our database and other sources in relation to the property listed above. We understand that this information will be used as part of an initial qualitative assessment of whether the building can be economically repaired, and will be supplemented by more detailed information and investigations to allow detailed scoping of the repair or rebuild of the building.

2. Scope

This geotechnical desk top study incorporates information sourced from:

- Published geology
- Publically available borehole records
- Liquefaction records
- Aerial photography
- Council files
- A preliminary site walkover

3. Limitations

This report was prepared to address geotechnical issues relating to the specific site in accordance with the scope of works as defined in the contract between SKM and our Client. This report has been prepared on behalf of, and for the exclusive use of, our Client, and is subject to, and issued in accordance with, the provisions of the contract between SKM and our Client. The findings presented in this report should not be applied to another site or another development within the same site without consulting SKM.

The assessment undertaken by SKM was limited to a desktop review of the data described in this report. SKM has not undertaken any subsurface investigations, measurement or testing of materials from the site. In preparing this report, SKM has relied upon, and presumed accurate, any information (or confirmation of the absence thereof) provided by our Client, and from other sources as described in the report. Except as otherwise stated in this report, SKM has not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information.



This report should be read in full and no excerpts are to be taken as representative of the findings. It must not be copied in parts, have parts removed, redrawn or otherwise altered without the written consent of SKM.

4. Site location



Figure 1 – Site location (courtesy of LINZ http://viewers.geospatial.govt.nz)

These structures are located on the corner of Linwood Avenue and Smith Street at grid reference 1573957 E, 5179440 N (NZTM).



5. Review of available information

5.1 Geological maps



Figure 2 – Regional geological map (Forsyth et al, 2008). Site marked in red.





Figure 3 – Local geological map (Brown et al, 1992). Site marked in red.

The site is shown to be underlain by Holocene deposits comprising predominantly alluvial sand and silt overbank deposits of the Springston Formation. Immediately to the north west lies an area of Christchurch Formation sand of fixed dunes.



5.2 Liquefaction map



• Figure 4 – Liquefaction map (Cubrinovski & Taylor, 2011). Site marked in red.

Following the 22 February 2011 event drive through reconnaissance was undertaken from 23 Feb until 1 Mar by M Cubrinovsko and M Taylor of Canterbury University. Their findings show no liquefaction at this site.



5.3 Aerial photography



• Figure 5 – Aerial photography from 24 Feb 2011 (http://viewers.geospatial.govt.nz/)

Aerial photography shows relatively little damage after the 22 Feb 2011 event. There appears to be a burst water main on Linwood Avenue, and what may be a single source of liquefied material in the tennis courts to the north west of the property. This coincides with a change of geology as identified on the geological maps.

5.4 CERA classification

A review of the LINZ website (<u>http://viewers.geospatial.govt.nz/</u>) shows that the site is:

- Zone: Green
- DBH Technical Category: N/A (Urban Non-residential) adjacent properties are TC2



5.5 Historical land use

Reference to historical documents (eg Appendix A) shows that the site lies immediately south and east of land that was recorded as marshland or swamp in 1856. It is therefore likely that soft or liquefiable ground would be present near the site. Given the relatively low accuracy of these historical documents, it should be considered possible that old swamp deposits are present on the site.

5.6 Existing ground investigation data



 Figure 6 – Local boreholes from Project Orbit and SKM files (https://canterburyrecovery.projectorbit.com/)

Where available logs from these investigation locations are attached to this report (Appendix B), and the results are summarised in Appendix C.



5.7 Council property files

The available council records were limited to building consents applied for the demolition of existing garage and shed and reconstruction of a double door garage and other documents relating to the above construction. The Council foundation record identifies top soil or sandy clay to be present to a depth of 0.5 m and medium sand from a depth of 0.5 m to 3.8 m for the site. No ground investigation for depth greater than 3.8 m was found in the council property files. The ground water table was estimated to be between 1.6 m to 3 m. The council record identifies an allowable bearing pressure of 200 kPa for the sand layer with comments stating that the identified allowable bearing pressure is adequate for the proposed buildings.

Drawings for the utility shed showed 500 mm square pad footings at a depth of 1 m. Drawings for the new garage at 180 Smith Street show a 100 mm thick reinforced raft foundation with edge thickening to 150 mm. Piles are shown inconsistently in the record. One drawing identifies 250 mm diameter piles are shown at each corner and at 2 m centres along the edge of the slab (depth not recorded). Another shows 150 mm 'piles' to 400 mm depth at 1.2 m spacing.

The council property files identify possible contamination under the "old work shop area" due to the presence of two tanks containing flammable liquid, which have since been removed.

5.8 Site walkover

An engineer from SKM undertook a site walkover in the week commencing 12 March 2012.

The Linwood Resource Centre and Library were mostly constructed using masonry block with an iron roof, Figure 7 shows the overview of the site. The buildings were both in good condition, with no external evidence of structural damage. The majority of the land on the site was asphalt, which showed no signs of land damage. There was no evidence that liquefaction occurred on the site.

Residents report that the only damage occurred to the footpaths, with paving slabs being displaced, (Figure 8) and that no liquefaction occurred on the site.







Figure 7 Overview of Linwood Services Centre and Library



Figure 8 Damaged paving slabs at Linwood Resource Centre



6. Conclusions and recommendations

6.1 Site geology

An interpretation of the most relevant local investigation suggests that the site is underlain by:

Depth range (mBLG)	Soil type
0 - 1	Sensitive fine grained soils (clay or silt)
1 - 8	Very stiff clays and loose to dense clayey sand
8 – 19	Dense sand
19 – 21	Interbedded clay and silt
21 - 23	Dense sand
23 +	Soft to firm clay or silt

6.2 Seismic site subsoil class

The site has been assessed as NZS1170.5 Class D (deep or soft soil) from adjacent borehole logs.

As described in NZS1170, the preferred site classification method is from site periods based on four times the shear wave travel time through material from the surface to the underlying rock. The next preferred methods are from borelogs including measurement of geotechnical properties or by evaluation of site periods from Nakamura ratios or from recorded earthquake motions. Lacking this information, classification may be based on boreholes with descriptors but no geotechnical measurements. The least preferred method is from surface geology and estimates of the depth to underlying rock.

In this case the second preferred method has been used to make the assessment utilising records from sites at least 50 m from the site. It is therefore possible that site specific investigation could revise the site class.

6.3 Building performance

Although detailed records of the existing foundations are not available, the performance to date suggests that they are adequate for their current purpose.

6.4 Ground performance and properties

It is expected that the allowable bearing capacity of a shallow pad footing on this site will be in the region of 200 kPa, as stated in the council records and supported by the findings of the nearby ground investigations. We estimate a conservative ultimate bearing capacity to be in the order of 400 kPa. However, these may be revised by a site specific investigation.

For the purposes of shallow foundation design, the following parameters are recommended for the near surface clayey sand:

- Effective angle of friction = 35 degrees
- Apparent cohesion = 1 kPa
- Unit weight = 18 kPa

Liquefaction risk is low at this site.



6.5 Further investigations

Unless a change of use is intended for the site we do not believe that any further geotechnical investigations are required. Specific ground investigation should be undertaken if significant alterations or new structures are proposed. If any excavations are required on the site further investigation of the potential for contamination should be undertaken.

7. References

Brown LJ, Weeber JH, 1992. Geology of the Christchurch urban area. Scale 1:25,000. Institute of Geological & Nuclear Sciences geological map 1.

Cubrinovski & Taylor, 2011. Liquefaction map summarising preliminary assessment of liquefaction in urban areas following the 2010 Darfield Earthquake.

Forsyth PJ, Barrell DJA, Jongens R, 2008. Geology of the Christchurch area. Institute of Geological & Nuclear Sciences geological map 16.

Land Information New Zealand (LINZ) geospatial viewer (http://viewers.geospatial.govt.nz/)

EQC Project Orbit geotechnical viewer (https://canterburyrecovery.projectorbit.com/)





Appendix B – Existing ground investigation logs



















roject:		Christ	tchur	ch 20	11 Eart	hqua	ke - E	QC Gr	ound I	nvestiga	tions	Ра	ge:	1 of 1			CPT-	LW	/D-2	8
est Date:		L9-Ma	y-2011		Locatio	n:	Li	nwood		Opera	tor:	Geo	otech	1						
re-Drill:	1	L.2m			Assume	ed GW	L: 2	mBGL		Locate	ed By:	Sur	vey (GPS					٦r	i۳ I
osition:	Ĩ	248354	47.1mE		5741248	3.6mN	2	.73mRL		Coord	. System:	NZI	NG 8	k MSL		EARTHQUAKE COMMISSION				
ther Tests:										Comn	nents:									
_	— c	one		SI	leeve	Co	one Re	sistan	ce (MP	a)	Frie	ction	Rati	io (%)			Pore P	ress	ure (kF	Pa)
0	2	4	6	8	10	12	14	16	18	20	0 1	2	3	4 5	6	0	100)	200	30
	>										\rightarrow									
6																				
<u> </u>		_																		
											\mathbf{N}									
2		<u> </u>				<u> </u>						-								
2			20	~						2	5									
		¥21.					$ \rightarrow$													
				- 2							5									
		×					~				ΙĘ									
4				2.		4				<u>4</u>										
-										7						1				
														++						+
6										6	1									
-																				
8										8										
10										10	ļ									
12										12	+									
14 +										14	+			++		+				
											ļ			ļļ		ļ				
16										16	1	1	1	1		1				
18										18	1	1	1			1				
20 +	40	80	120	160	200	240	280	320	360	+ 20 400	+ 0 1	2	+ 3	4 5		+	100	i	200	30
0		00	.20	Sleeve	- Frictio	- +0	200 a)	020	000	100	5 1		-		0	v				00





Appendix C – Geotechnical investigation summary



ID		1	2	;	3	4	5
Type *		CPT	CPT	C	CPT CPT		BH
Ref		LWD-35	LWD-34	BR	Y-18	LWD-28	M35-2111
Depth (m)	8	11	3	2	32	66
Distance site (m)	from	100	200	375		450	500
Ground v level (mB	vater GL)	4	3	2	.5	2	Artesian
	0	N/A	N/A			N/A	
	1					MD	
	2					MD	
	3					MD	
	4					So	
	5					So	
	6					MD	
E ć	7					MD	
ofile atum	8					MD	
l pro	9					MD	
gica p of	10					MD	
o to	11					D	
d ge /el t	12					D	
rdeo d lev	13					D	
ecol	14					D	
ad r gro	15					D	
plifi	16					D	
Sim h be	17					D	
dept	18					D	
<u> </u>	19					F	
	20					F	
	21					D	
	22					D	
	23					St	
	24					St	
	25					St	
Greater depths	I			Clay to	31 m	Clay to 32 m	
*BH: Boreł	nole, H	A: Hand Auger, W	W: Water Well,	CPT: Cone	Penetra	tion Test	
Sensit	ive or or	ganic clay/silt	Clay to si	Ity clay	Clayey	silt to silt	Silty sand to sil
Clayey	sand		Sand		Gravel	ly sand or gravel	
VL = very I	oose, l	_ = loose, MD = m	edium dense, [) = dense, \	/D = very	/ dense	
VS = vorv	coft Cr	- ooft E - firm 9	$St = otiff \sqrt{S} = x$	ony stiff L	bord		

VS = very soft, So = soft, F = firm, St = stiff, VS = very stiff, H = hard



14. Appendix 5 – Calculations Philosophy

No existing drawings were available. Calculations were based on Survey Plans drawn by SKM and site photos.

14.1. Project description

Building is a single storey portal frame building with concrete panels. The building has a mezzanine floor on the north eastern side and an attachment on the south eastern side. The building is used as a library and an office

14.2. Site location, street, city, country

180 Smith St, Linwood, Christchurch, New Zealand

14.3. Type of project

Quantitative Assessment on existing building

14.4. Environmental conditions – durability requirements

Is outside of the scope

14.5. Site constraints

No buildings in close vicinity

14.6. Movement Joints

Were not found in the building

14.7. Construction materials

Portal Frame Steel = 460UB.

Type of 460UB could not be confirmed on site. 460UB67 has been assumed. $f_y = 300Mpa$

Purlins = 200DHS

Type of 200DHS has been assumed to be DHS200/12, properties from Dimond have been assumed.

<u>Roof Bracing</u> = 20mm diameter, Assume $f_y = 250Mpa$

Bolts in apex = Assume 4.6/S f_{uf} =400 MPa



Bolts in shearwall = Assume M12 bolt epoxied into concrete wall with Ramset Chemset Injection 101 Plus

<u>Concrete</u> = 30 Mpa, γ = 24kN/m³

14.8. Bracing strategy

14.8.1. Along

Lateral loads from the roof are taken by the purlins to roof bracing to steel columns then to the concrete panel walls. No foundation detail has been provided for the concrete walls so have assumed the walls resist the load by gravity only.

14.8.2. Across

Lateral loads from the roof are taken by the purlins to the steel portal frames. No foundation details have been provided for the column

14.9. Ground conditions

A class D type soil has been used in the analysis.

14.10. Loading assumptions

50 year design life, soil type D, z=0.3.

14.10.1. Along direction

T=0.3 seconds, μ =1, this has been used as the concrete shear walls will provide elastic ductility

14.10.2. Across direction

T=0.6seconds, μ =1.25, steel portal frame has been assumed to be nominally ductile. A higher ductility may be possible but there are limited details available to confirm this.

14.11. Fire resistance

Is outside of the scope

14.12. Codes used

Loadings NZS1170, Steel Structures NZS3404, Timber Framed Buildings NZ3604, NZSEE "Assessment and Improvement of the structural performance of Buildings in Earthquakes", Concrete Structures NZS 3101



14.13. Deflection limits

Has been assumed to be within acceptable limits based on the low ductility of the structure

14.14. Other Assumptions

Shear wall connections

Not all of the shear wall to steel column connections could be inspected. From the ones that were inspected it has been assumed all the connections on the on the south side consist of cleats welded to the columns with bolts connecting the concrete wall to the cleats.

For the connections on the north side it has been assumed all the connections consist of cleats welded to the columns with the cleats welded to the concrete walls.

5mm welds have been assumed.

Shear wall

No panel joints were found on the south wall it has been assumed that the wall was cast in-situ.

Floor Diaphragm

It is assumed the particle board and gib ceiling is adequately connected to the timber joists to provide diaphragm action.

Concrete Panels

Details of how the concrete panels are connected to the foundation have not been provided. An assumption has been that the walls in the longitudinal direction do not have a connection at the bottom so that when they act out of plane they will span between the steel columns, when acting inplane they will resist loads by rocking.

It has been assumed that the end walls have a shear connection to resist loads in the out of plane direction.

14.15. Loadings

14.15.1. Dead loads

Dead loads have been evaluated using NZS1170.1



14.15.2. Live Loads

Roof live load has been taken as 0.25kN/m³ and live load on the mezzanine floor has been taken as 3kN/m³ for office.

14.15.3. Wind Loads

Wind loads have not been considered as it is outside of the scope of a quantitative assessment.

14.15.4. Snow and Ice loads

Snow and ice loads have not been considered as it is outside the scope of a quantitative assessment.

14.15.5. Earthquake Loads

Earthquake load case $G+E_u+\psi_E Q$ has been considered in these calculations. The horizontal design action coefficient has been evaluated in the along direction $C_d(T) = 0.9$, across direction $C_d(T) = 0.63$.

14.15.6. Temperature Loads

Temperature loading was not considered critical for the quantitative assessment.